IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No. 92,963

OWENS CORNING,

Petitioner,

v.

DEWARD BALLARD,

Respondent.

## INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS OFOWENS CORNING

On Review of a Certified Question of Great Public Importance FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

Arthur J. England, Jr., Esq. Larry L. Simms, Esq. Greenberg Traurig Hoffman 1221 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: (305) 579-0500

Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP Lipoff Rosen & Quentel, P.A. 1050 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20036 Telephone: (202) 955-8500

Co-counsel for Owens Corning

##

#### INTRODUCTION

This case presents two questions of great public importance. The first question, certified by the district court, arises out of the enactment of legislation in 1986 that declares presumptively unlawful any punitive damage award in excess of three times the compensatory award, and requires a plaintiff to overcome the presumption with clear and convincing evidence. The Court is called upon to identify what manner and degree of evidence is required for that showing, over and above that which warranted punitive damages in the first place. At stake is \$25.825 million of a \$31 million punitive damage award imposed on Owens Corning in purported furtherance of Florida's interests in punishing conduct and deterring similar conduct in the future.

The second question arises out of this Court's decision in Kinney System, Inc. v. Continental Ins. Co., 674 So. 2d 86 (Fla. 1996), which condemned the use of Florida courts for lawsuits having no connection with Florida and directed the courts to dismiss such cases under the doctrine of forum non conveniens. At stake is the application of Kinney to untold thousands of cases brought by foreign plaintiffs against foreign defendants, like this one, that continue to clog the Florida courts.

The Court has jurisdiction to decide all issues properly presented in a case that has been certified. E.g., Feller v. State, 637 So. 2d 911, 913 (Fla. 1994); Tillman v. State, 471 So. 2d 32, 34 (Fla. 1985) ("The district court's certification . . . gives this Court jurisdiction, in its discretion, to review the district court's 'decision' . . . Once the case has been accepted for review here, this Court may review any issue arising in the (continued . . .)

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

### 1993-94

In December 1993, Deward Ballard filed a form complaint against Owens Corning and 22 other entities alleging he had been injured by exposure to asbestos dust. (R. 1). Mr. Ballard was an electrician who worked in 1960s and 1970s in states other than Florida, was exposed to asbestos products manufactured by a host of different companies (one of which was Florida-based W.R. Grace & Co.), and had been diagnosed as having "asbestosis."<sup>2</sup>

In February 1994, Mr. Ballard filed "exposure sheets"

(R. 58-62) — a form of notice used in asbestos litigation to identify work sites where a plaintiff claims to have been exposed to particular products containing asbestos so that, among other reasons, defendants can pursue their right to apportion damages among named and unnamed defendants under Florida law. He there declared that he was exposed to Owens Corning products between 1960 and 1972 at three job sites in Alabama, Illinois and Tennessee. (R. 61).

Owens Corning answered the complaint and served preliminary interrogatories on Mr. Ballard. (R. 75). In May, Mr. Ballard served interrogatory answers stating that he had never worked in

<sup>( . . .</sup> continued)
 case that has been properly preserved and properly
 presented.").

<sup>&</sup>quot;Asbestosis" is a non-malignant, non-cancerous disease in the form of dead scar tissue that clogs the small airways to the lungs. Celotex Corp. v. Meehan, 523 So. 2d 141, 150 n.2 (Fla. 1988) (Barkett, J., dissenting); Matter of Celotex Corp., 175 B.R. 98, 104-05 (Bankr. M.D. Fla. 1994).

Florida and had no contact whatever with Florida. In September, Mr. Ballard filed a notice that the case was at issue. (R. 242; 2/27 Tr. 50).

### 1995

Mr. Ballard joined with 19 other asbestos-claim plaintiffs to request that the circuit court set up a master docket for the large number of asbestos lawsuits that had been filed and were pending in the Palm Beach County Circuit Court. On June 26, the trial court granted these plaintiffs' motion, establishing an "In re: Asbestos Litigation Repository File" docket and creating for that purpose Docket No. 95-50000. (S.R. 4). On July 12, the court entered an Omnibus Order that implemented the master docket. (S.R. 9).

In December 1995, Mr. Ballard was privately diagnosed with "mesothelioma." (2/27 Tr. 5, 60). Owens Corning was not notified of this diagnosis at the time.

### 1996

On January 25, the Court issued its decision in Kinney Systems, Inc. v. Continental Ins. Co., 674 So. 2d 86 (Fla. 1996).

On August 15, the trial court entered an order in the master "In re" docket setting 20 of the oldest asbestos cases on the

<sup>&</sup>quot;Mesothelioma," a disease wholly unrelated to asbestosis, is a rare form of malignant cancer, invariably fatal, in which the cells multiply uncontrolled in the chest wall surrounding organs in the chest cavity. Celotex Corp., supra; Matter of Celotex Corp., supra, at 105.

trial calendar for January 6, 1997. (S.R. 13). Mr. Ballard's case was number 5 on the list. (S.R. 17). At that time, the court identified 240 asbestos cases pending on the "In re" docket. (S.R. 17-21).

On October 1, Owens Corning moved to dismiss Mr. Ballard's lawsuit and 11 others on the ground of forum non conveniens and in light of this Court's decision in Kinney. (S.R. 22). An affidavit attached to the motion states that 7,422 asbestos cases were pending in Florida against Owens Corning at the time. (S.R. 31).4

At the time this motion was filed, the only record activity in Mr. Ballard's lawsuit consisted of his complaint and initial exposure sheets, Owens Corning's answer to the complaint, and Mr. Ballard's notice (filed in September of 1994) that the case was at issue. The only discovery that had been undertaken was Owens Corning's service of preliminary interrogatories and Mr. Ballard's answers to those interrogatories, indicating that Mr. Ballard was suffering from "asbestosis" as a result of exposure to asbestos dust at job sites outside of Florida. Mr. Ballard's deposition had not been taken. No expert or other witnesses had been identified by the parties. There had been no judicial

An administrative order entered in the master "In re" docket on October 22 stated that over 700 asbestos cases were pending in the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit.

involvement in his lawsuit on procedural matters, on discovery issues, or for any other purpose.<sup>5</sup>

On October 15, Mr. Ballard disclosed his mesothelioma diagnosis to Owens Corning. (2/27 Tr. 5). A day later, he served "amended" exposure sheets, leaving unchanged as to Owens Corning only one of the job sites shown on his initial exposure sheets, adding eight new sites in six states not previously disclosed, and expanding the period of alleged exposure from 1955 to 1973. (R. 247, 253). A week later, Mr. Ballard moved to expedite his trial. (S.R. 33).

On October 31, a hearing was held on Owens Corning's forum non motion and Mr. Ballard's motion to expedite. The trial court denied Owens Corning's motion, and over Owens Corning's objection granted Mr. Ballard's motion to expedite. ("In Re" Docket at 376, 378). On November 19, but unbeknownst to the trial court or Owens Corning, Mr. Ballard filed suit in Louisiana against a number of asbestos manufacturers other than Owens Corning, alleging essentially the same asbestos injuries that he was asserting in his Florida lawsuit. (S.M. Ex. A; 2/27 Tr. 6-8, 36, 40-41).

In the circuit court's "In re" master docket, the only judicial action that directly affected Mr. Ballard was an order that set his and 19 other cases for trial on the January 6, 1997 calendar.

Attached as Appendix 1 is the docket sheet for the "In Re" master docket, dating from the opening of that docket to the date of Mr. Ballard's trial.

Based on Mr. Ballard's claim of having mesothelioma as well as the significant new information contained in his amended exposure sheets, Owens Corning moved to amend its pleadings to supplement the affirmative defense of apportionment already pled, to specifically name non-parties, and to conform its pleadings to the new evidence. (S.M. App. C). The trial court denied Owens Corning's motions. In December, Owens Corning took Mr. Ballard's deposition.

### 1997-98

Trial began on January 9, 1997. Jury verdicts were rendered awarding Mr. Ballard \$1.845 million in compensatory damages, later reduced to \$1.725 million, and \$31 million in punitive damages. (Tr. 1429; R. 415-17, 418, 801). On January 30, Owens Corning learned for the first time of the parallel lawsuit that Mr. Ballard had brought in Louisiana against other defendants. (2/27 Tr. 8).

Mr. Ballard alleged that his condition was caused by exposure to a variety of products containing asbestos, including Kaylo — a product manufactured and distributed by Owens Corning that was used to insulate high-temperature piping and similar applications. Kaylo was distributed or manufactured by Owens Corning from 1952 through 1972. (1/21 Tr. 90).

Owens Corning realized a profit of \$1.4 million from its manufacture and sales of Kaylo. (1/21 Tr. 90-92). The net worth of Owens Corning, as established at trial, was a negative \$563 million, a figure established by Owens Corning's 1966 third-

quarter Form 10Q as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. (Owens Corning Trial Ex. 719 at 3-4). Through September 1996, Owens Corning had paid \$383 million out of its own funds, over and above insurance, to resolve asbestos claims. (1/21 Tr. 162). Asbestos indemnity payments of \$57 million were made in the third quarter of 1996 (2/27 Tr. 26), and were running at an annual rate of \$225 million as of early 1997. (1/21 Tr. 108, 111-12). Fully one-half of Owens Corning's net earnings are devoted to resolving asbestos claims. (1/21 Tr. 80, 114).

From 1946 through 1968 the American Conference of Government Industrial Hygienists maintained that asbestos was safe so long as dust concentrations did not exceed five million particles per cubic foot (Tr. 1035-36), and under normal handling conditions Kaylo did not produce dust in excess of that standard.

(Tr. 1166). A study warning of hazards of exposure to asbestos at certain levels was published in December 31, 1965, at which time Owens Corning believed Kaylo would not produce the adverse effects described in the study. (Tr. 1167-68). Nonetheless, Owens Corning put warning labels on Kaylo in 1966, years before such warnings were required by law or regulation. (Tr. 726-28). During the period of Mr. Ballard's alleged exposures (1955-73), Kaylo was not regarded as dangerous to humans under normal handling conditions. (Tr. 1156-59).

Until 1972, Owens Corning was unable to replace the asbestos in Kaylo with an asbestos-free product that would satisfy customer demand. (Tr. 1190, 1199, 1208-09). From July 12 to November 13, 1972, Owens Corning test-marketed "AF Kaylo,"

advertised as asbestos-free but which the evidence at trial suggested accidentally contained a small amount of asbestos. No asbestos-containing product was sold by Owens Corning thereafter. (Tr. 779-82).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Against a backdrop of profound and long-standing judicial deference to the amounts of punitive damages awarded by Florida juries, the Florida Legislature in 1986 abolished that deference and declared that a punitive damage award exceeding three times the compensatory award was presumptively excessive. In doing so, the Legislature concluded that a punishment three times the size of a compensatory award presumptively exhausted Florida's interests in punishing the tortfeasor and deterring similar conduct.

The Legislature required punitive damage claimants seeking to overcome this legislative judgment to do so by "clear and convincing" evidence from the record as a whole, and it excluded intentional torts from the list of torts to which the three-times cap applied. The three-times cap was reached in this case at \$5.175 million, requiring Mr. Ballard to justify an additional \$25.875 million awarded by the jury. No showing was made by Mr. Ballard that would justify leaving that excessive portion of the award to survive the Legislature's limitation.

The parties and the trial court understood that Owens

Corning's forum non motion for dismissal of Mr. Ballard's lawsuit

would have been granted under an application of the Kinney

"factors." The trial court denied the motion, however, and the district court upheld that ruling, based on an apparent application of the "ready for trial" or "substantially completed discovery" tests for cases pending when the Court issued the Kinney decision.

The district court's affirmation of the trial court's ruling was erroneous. When Owens Corning's motion was filed, there had been no discovery relevant to Mr. Ballard's mesothelioma lawsuit, and Owens Corning was not remotely ready for a trial on that claim. The district court's decision completely thwarts the Court's intention to unclog the Florida courts by having the Kinney principles applied to thousands of cases pending on January 25, 1996, that had been improperly filed in Florida and were neither advanced in discovery nor ready for trial, like Mr. Ballard's lawsuit. The district court's decision directly conflicts with a decision of the Third District, which applied Kinney's "ready for trial" test to a case where discovery was far more advanced than here, to hold that the circuit court's refusal to dismiss was an abuse of discretion. Sun & Sea Estates, Ltd. v. Kelly, 707 So. 2d 863 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998).

#### ARGUMENT

The district court erred in sustaining an award of punitive damages greater than three times the jury's award of compensatory damages.

The district court certified the following question as one of great public importance:

Is the statutory presumption as to excessive punitive damages, found in section 768.73(1), Florida Statutes, overcome in a case where the punitive damages award is almost 18 times the compensatory damages awarded, when it is based on clear and convincing evidence that the award was less than 2% of the defendant's company's net worth, and that the defendant's conduct was more egregious than the standard of wanton and willful disregard for the safety of the plaintiff?

23 Fla. L. Weekly at D1078. A copy of the district court's decision is attached as Appendix 2.

The question as phrased by that court is obviously factspecific. Inherent in the inquiry, however, is the very
important public question of what principles of law govern the
application of the punitive damage "cap" statute — section
768.73(2)(b) — to any award that exceeds the limit of three times
compensatory damages and assigns to a plaintiff the burden of
demonstrating, by clear and convincing evidence from the record
as a whole, that the presumptively unlawful portion of a jury
award is not excessive. The answer to that question is found in
the statute, as interpreted in light of the common law regarding
punitive damages at the time the statute was enacted.

The trial court and district court decisions must be repudiated because they rely on factual findings that are not supported by the record, and because they overlook facts favorable to Owens Corning that, under the applicable statutory

The record establishes that the "fact" set out in the certified question concerning Owens Corning's net worth was not established by clear and convincing evidence, and was flatly contrary to the only evidence on the point.

standard, must be weighed heavily in determining whether the statutory presumption of excessiveness may be defeated. Mr. Ballard's asbestos personal injury case is a classic case for application of the statutory cap.

with its enactment of section 768.73, the Legislature established a presumption that an amount equal to three times compensatory damages is sufficient to satisfy the punishment and deterrence goals of punitive damages. § 768.73(1)(a)-(b), Fla. Stat. Ann. (1987).8 An asbestos personal injury case against a defendant such as Owens Corning is the most inappropriate case for finding that the cap should be exceeded. There is no immediate or ongoing threat to the public health or welfare. Owens Corning ceased manufacturing asbestos-containing Kaylo over 25 years ago. Any exposure that may give rise to an injury took place long ago. Thus, this is not a case in which a huge punitive damage award can be justified as the only available means to assure an immediate cessation of the harmful conduct.

In addition, there is no basis for believing that a huge punishment in a single case is necessary to accomplish the public goals of punishment and deterrence, either as to Owens Corning individually or as to former manufacturers of asbestos-containing products collectively — many of whom are now bankrupt and unable to pay their fair share of compensatory damages in this extensive

In Florida, as elsewhere, "[p]unitive damages are imposed in order to punish the defendant for extreme wrongdoing and to deter others from engaging in similar conduct." Chrysler Corp. v. Wolmer, 499 So. 2d 823, 825 (Fla. 1986).

litigation. The prospect of multi-million dollar compensatory awards (such as Mr. Ballard's \$1.8 million compensatory damage award) has provided adequate incentive for individual plaintiffs to sue on their own behalf in order to recover their own compensatory and punitive damage awards. As demonstrated below, Owens Corning currently pays at least a half, if not more, of its annual profits in indemnity and defense costs associated with its asbestos liability. (Tr. 80). Clearly, this is precisely the opposite of the kind of case in which a large award in excess of the \$5.175 million permitted under the cap is needed to ensure that the governmental goals of punitive damages are met.

A. The legislative limitation contemplates stringent standards for court review of presumptively excessive awards.

In 1985, this Court declared (and has since reiterated on several occasions) that punitive damages may be imposed only for "willful and wanton misconduct equivalent to criminal manslaughter." Como Oil Co. v. O'Loughlin, 466 So. 2d 1061, 1062 (Fla. 1985). At that time, it was well understood that punitive damages serve to punish for extreme wrongdoing and to deter others from engaging in similar conduct — not to provide a means for plaintiffs to recover extra damages. Mercury Motors Express, Inc. v. Smith, 393 So. 2d 545 (Fla. 1981). Thus, punitive damages were designed to serve expressly defined interests of the state, not private interests, with the level of punishment to vindicate these state interests largely left to Florida juries:

Since the degree of punishment to be inflicted on the defendant is peculiarly within the province of the jury, courts will hold punitive damages excessive only in unusual circumstances.

Wackenhut Corp. v. Canty, 359 So. 2d 430, 436 (Fla. 1978).

Against this background, the Legislature in 1986 adopted "tort reform" legislation that altered existing Florida law in several important respects. With regard to the general problem of excessive verdicts (including compensatory and punitive damages), the Legislature made express its intention "that awards of damages be subject to close scrutiny by the courts . . . " \$ 768.74(3), Fla. Stat. (1987). This heightened scrutiny was made applicable to all cases sounding in tort or contract. \$ 768.71, Fla. Stat. (1987).

With regard to a narrower class of cases and damage awards, however, the Legislature went much farther. Exercising its plenary authority to regulate the recovery of punitive damages in Florida's courts — to the point of extinction, if it chose (see Alamo Rent-A-Car, Inc. v. Mancusi, 632 So. 2d 1352, 1358 (Fla. 1994)) — the Legislature declared that a punitive damage award "may not exceed three times the amount of compensatory damages awarded." § 768.73(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1987).

Reversing a long tradition of extreme judicial deference to juries, the Legislature declared that any portion of a punitive

The Legislature is presumed to know the existing law when a statute is enacted, including judicial decisions. *Collins Investment Co. v. Metropolitan Dade County*, 164 So. 2d 806 (Fla. 1964); Wood v. Fraser, 677 So. 2d 15 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996).

damage award in excess of three times the compensatory award "is presumed to be excessive." § 768.73(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (1987). Thus, the Legislature declared that Florida's interests in punishment and deterrence are presumptively exhausted by a punitive damage award three times the compensatory damage award. This statutory limitation, however, was made applicable only to an enumerated list of civil actions "involving willful, wanton, or gross misconduct" that do not encompass intentional torts. § 768.73(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1987).

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