1024

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE
JUL 18 1998

Case No. 92,963

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By Chief Deputy Slerk

OWENS CORNING,

Petitioner,

v.

DEWARD BALLARD,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF DEWARD BALLARD

ON REVIEW OF A CERTIFIED QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

John F. Venable, Esq.
Venable and Venable, P.A.
205 South Hoover Boulevard
Suite 403
Tampa, Florida 33609
Telephone: (813) 281-1200

Daniel F. O'Shea, Esq.
Ratiner, Reyes and O'Shea, P.A.
1101 Brickell Avenue
Suite 1601
Miami, Florida 33131
Telephone: (305) 374-8110

Co-counsel for Deward Ballard

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

Summary of Argument

Certiorari should be denied in this case because the district court correctly applied unambiguous legal principles in its affirmation of the trial court's judgment. As to the punitive verdict, the district court properly opined that the trial court had not abused its discretion when it found by clear

⁶Judge Baker's order is attached hereto as Exhibit 1 of the Appendix.

and convincing evidence that the punitive damage award was not excessive in light of the facts and circumstances presented to the trier of fact. Florida's interest to hurt and thereby punish and deter OC's willful and wanton conduct would not have been achieved by a \$5 million punitive award which, according to OC, would not significantly impact the company.

Certiorari should not be granted in order for this court to consider arguments made by OC for the first time in this court.

OC did not argue in the lower courts that actual malice with specific intent to injure is required by §768.73 to support more than treble punitive damages. OC also did not argue in the lower courts that it is entitled to have all inferences from the evidence construed in its favor. Respondent believes OC is clearly wrong on both points; however, if there is any doubt, then these issues should only be decided by this court after having been fully developed in the courts below.

Certiorari review is not required in this case to instruct that factual inferences should not be made in the plaintiff's favor when applying §768.73. The district court did not so hold, and the trial court did not engage any inferences in favor of the respondent.

Review by certiorari is not required to resolve a conflict between the fourth district's opinion in this case and the third district opinion in Sun & Sea Estates, Ltd., v. Kelly, 707 So. 2d 863 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998). The fourth district correctly affirmed the denial of OC's forum motion because OC could not show that the trial court was wrong in finding OC had agreed with its

ruling. The third district was not confronted with the issue of whether the appellant had invited the ruling complained of.

ARGUMENT

I. Punitive Damages

A. The Certified Ouestion

Mr. Ballard agrees with OC that the question certified is specific to the facts of this case. In essence, the district court has simply asked this court if it agrees with its decision. Respondent recognizes that this court has the authority to review any case wherein the district court certifies a question to be of great public importance, but this court has said:

Sustaining the dignity of decisions of the district courts of appeal must depend largely on the determination of the Supreme Court not to venture beyond the limitations of its own powers by arrogating to itself the right to delve into a decision of a district court of appeal primarily to decide whether or not the Supreme Court agrees with the district court of appeal about the disposition of a given case.

Lake v. Lake, 103 So. 2d 639, 642 (Fla. 1958). Review by certiorari here amounts to nothing more than a second appeal and respondent respectfully suggests that the court should decline to review this case because as in Novack, supra n.5, a decision by this court is neither justified nor required.

If this court decides that it should answer the question certified, the answer must be "yes". Florida Statute §768.73 is unambiguous. It clearly specifies what a trial court is required to do when it confronts a punitive verdict greater than three

⁷Novack v. Novack, 195 So. 2d 199 (Fla. 1967).

times the compensatory award. First, the trial court must recognize a presumption that the punitive award is excessive. §768.73(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1987). To sustain the presumptively excess portion of the punitive verdict the trial court must find that the facts and circumstances presented to the jury demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that the punitive award is not excessive. §768.73(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (1987). That is precisely what the trial judge did in this case.

In §768.73, the legislature did not provide that if justified by the facts of a particular case that a punitive award may not be larger than some arbitrary ratio between the punitive award and the compensatory award. Florida Statute §768.73 creates a presumption, but the ratio between compensatory and punitive damages is not a determinative factor in assessing the excessiveness of a particular punitive award. Lassitter v. International Union of Operating Engineers, 349 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 1976). After the presumption has been engaged, this court's rationale in Lassitter for not relying upon an arbitrary ratio as opposed to the facts in a particular case to evaluate the excessiveness of a punitive award remains valid. American Medical International, Inc., v. Scheller, 590 So. 2d 947 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991).

The experience of the United States Supreme Court in the use of ratios underscores their legitimate role as a "red flag" of excessiveness but they have not been a determinative factor. In Browning-Ferris Industries of Vermont, Inc., v. Kelco Disposal, Inc. 109 S.Ct. 2909 (1989), the Court confronted the claim that a

\$6 million punitive award in a case where the compensatory award was \$51,146 was excessive. Even though the ratio was 117:1 the Court did not find it to be excessive. *Id*.

In Pacific Mutual Life Insurance Co., v. Haslip, 111 S.Ct. 1032 (1991), the Court explained as to punitive damages "We need not, and indeed we cannot, draw a mathematical bright line between the constitutionally acceptable and the constitutionally unacceptable that would fit every case." Id at 1043. The Court recognized that under the facts of Haslip a ratio of 4:1 "may be close to the line" of excessiveness. Id.

In TXO Production Corp., v. Alliance Resources Corp., 113
S.Ct. 2711 (1993), the ratio was 526:1. Id at 2718. One might have thought that after having said 4:1 was "close to the line", the Court would find 526:1 over the line. However, the Court recognized that the amount awarded in punitive damages "is based on a host of facts and circumstances unique to the particular case . . . " Id at 2720. The TXO ratio was found not to be excessive where the facts demonstrated a large amount of money was at stake, the defendant acted in bad faith, the defendant engaged in trickery and deceit, and the defendant was wealthy. Id. The Court also noted that if one considered all of the harm which could result from the defendant's misconduct the ratio between the punitive damages and the potential harm was only 10:1.8

In BMW of North America, Inc., v. Gore, 116 S.Ct. 1589

^{*}If one considers the potential harm caused by OC's misconduct (over \$1 billion) the ratio is much less than 1:1.

(1996), the misconduct was repainting a new car and not disclosing that fact to the purchaser. Although not permitted in Alabama where the car was sold, the failure to disclose the repair was authorized by most states. Id. Even though the ratio between punitive and compensatory damages in BMW was 500:1, the Court reiterated its "rejection of a categorical approach". at 1602. Instead, the Court found that BMW's misconduct did not involve deliberate false statements, acts of affirmative misconduct, concealment of evidence or improper motive. Id at The Court also reasoned that, unlike BMW, cases involving "trickery and deceit" are more reprehensible than those involving The Court explained that punitive damages negligence. Id. should reflect "the enormity of the offense", and BMW only involved economic loss. Id. Finding that "none of the aggravating factors associated with particularly reprehensible conduct is present", the Court found the \$2 million punitive award excessive. Id.

One inescapable conclusion from the Supreme Court's use of ratios as a "red flag" in punitive damage cases is that it is the underlying facts of the case which determine if the damages are excessive. In cases such as the one at bar, which involve most if not every aggravating factor for assessing punitive damages, the ratio has not been helpful. TXO Production Corp., v. Alliance Resources Corp., supra.

In §768.73 the legislature was very precise as to how ratios were to be used in punitive damage cases. Nothing in that statute, the common law of Florida, or Federal common law

suggests that a punitive award which the facts and circumstances show is not excessive should be found to be so solely because the ratio is 18:1. To the extent that the district court was concerned about the relationship between the punitive award and compensatory award in this case it should not have been.

Lassitter v. International Union of Operating Engineers, supra.

The fact that in this case the judgment represents only 2% of OC's wealth further demonstrates the verdict was not excessive. Despite less egregious misconduct with less potential for human pain, suffering and death, courts have approved relatively much larger awards than in this case. Holding a 2% punishment excessive under these facts would encourage rather than deter egregious conduct and jeopardize the lives of millions of people.

In summary the answer to the certified question is self evident. When a defendant's misconduct is more egregious than willful and wanton misconduct, and all of the facts and circumstances of the case show by clear and convincing evidence that the jury's punitive award is not excessive, the verdict

should not be found to be excessive merely because it is 18 times the compensatory award or is \$31 million. This is especially true when the award is less than 2% of the defendant's wealth.

B. OC's Argument

OC contends, without any support, that in evaluating the excessiveness of this verdict the lower courts applied only the evidence relied on by Mr. Ballard, and drew inferences from that evidence in Mr. Ballard's favor. (PB p.16). Nothing in the record remotely suggests that is what happened. Rather the record shows that the lower court reviewed the "evidence" - not part of the evidence- and made factual determinations applying the clear and convincing standard. As this court has stated, when a judge is charged with the responsibility to make factual findings by clear and convincing evidence:

The trial judge is responsible for finding facts and for resolving any conflicts in the evidence.

In Re: Adoption of Baby E.A.W. v. J.S.W., 658 So. 2d 961, 967 (Fla. 1995). This is exactly what Judge Baker did in this case. As will be shown, Judge Baker understandably found much of OC's evidence unbelievable or irrelevant.

OC witness Jerry Helser is an employee of OC paid to travel around the country and tell the OC "story" that he told in this case. (T744). By its verdict, the jury must have concluded that Jerry Helser was not telling the truth. The findings of fact by Judge Baker also are inconsistent with a belief that Jerry Helser told the truth. A trial judge's opportunity to observe a witness, such as Mr. Helser, and evaluate his veracity in the

context of a "living trial" is one of the primary reasons this court has permitted very limited review of a denial to remit punitive damage verdicts. Lassitter v. International Union of Operating Engineers, supra. The testimony of Jerry Helser justified the Judge and jury's conclusion that Jerry Helser, despite his oath, did not tell the truth.

Jerry Helser specifically denied that OC "exerted maximum pressure" to sell its inventories of asbestos containing Kaylo after July 1972 when it began to market "asbestos free" Kaylo AF. (T783). In fact, Mr. Helser claimed that in 1972, there were no inventories of asbestos containing Kaylo because it had been "all sold out". (T783). However, Mr. Helser was confronted with an OC internal document written in July 1972 which stated that the assignment for July - December 1972 was to "Exert maximum pressure to move the current slow moving inventories of Kaylo products out of the Berlin Plant." (PL Exh 155).

Jerry Helser testified under oath that all of the Owens
Corning asbestos rendered obsolete by the development of
"asbestos free" Kaylo in 1972 was sold to the U.S. Government.
(T784). However, Judge Baker and the jury saw an OC internal document which showed that in fact the obsolete amosite asbestos was sold to North American Asbestos Company. (PL Exh 169).

Jerry Helser denied that OC ever placed any asbestos containing "offware" in its asbestos free Kaylo. (T779). Judge Baker and the jury observed Mr. Helser when he was shown the internal OC document which stated that "asbestos (including that in offware additions to the batch)" was added to the new

"asbestos free" Kaylo. (PL Exh 156). Judge Baker watched as Mr. Helser continued to deny that "asbestos free" Kaylo was contaminated with asbestos containing offware. (T779-81).

Judge Baker and the jury observed Mr. Helser when he testified that asbestos free MultiTemp (GPL 400), the asbestos free insulation developed by OC by 1962, was not sold because it did not work. (T725-6). They also watched Mr. Helser deny that the "real reason" that OC dropped MultiTemp in 1963 was its low profit margin, as his boss, Dick Shannon, had specifically written in 1967 and 1969. (T752-3; PL Exh 119; PL Exh 56).

Judge Baker and the jury also observed Jerry Helser testify that in 1962, OC could not replace the amosite asbestos in Kaylo with phenolic glass. (T754). They then observed Mr. Helser as he was confronted with Dick Shannon's 1962 internal report (PL Exh 95) to his supervisors that stated to the contrary. (T754-763).

Mr. Helser also testified that in 1967 and 1968 OC was working hard to find a replacement for asbestos in Kaylo. (T772-3). 10 But the jury then saw Mr. Helser confronted with Dick Shannon's reports to his supervisors that in 1967 OC was conducting a "low gear program in finding substitutes for asbestos" (PL Exh 34), and in 1968 "the replacement of asbestos program was placed on hold". (T773-78; PL Exh 111 p.2).

Jerry Helser also denied that in 1966 OC used the JM label

¹⁰OC introduced numerous "replacement documents" which it claimed showed that OC was working hard on the replacement of asbestos in the late 60's. However, OC had determined that the effort to replace asbestos in the late 60's was limited to "screening fibers" and that asbestos would not be removed from Kaylo at that time.

as a guide in developing the label that was stamped on Kaylo.

(T772). Then they saw the JM label with words crossed out which became verbatim the OC label:

CAUTION

"This product contains asbestos fiber.

Inhalation of asbestos in excessive quantities over a long period of time may be harmful

If dust is created when this product is handled, avoid breathing the dust.

If adequate ventilation control is not possible, wear respirator approved by U. S. Bureau of Mines for pneumoconiosis producing dust."

(T771-72). Then they heard Jerry Helser continue to deny that the JM label was used by OC to develop the watered-down OC label. (T772).

Crocidolite asbestos is the most potent form of asbestos in the production of mesothelioma. (T860). Thus, it was important that OC deny that Kaylo ever contained crocidolite. Mr. Helser swore that "crocidolite was never used in Kaylo when Owens Corning manufactured it." (T750). In fact, Mr. Helser testified that crocidolite could not be used in Kaylo. (T747). However, Judge Baker observed Mr. Helser when he was confronted with an OC memorandum written by the Kaylo plant manager, Mr. Taylor, which said "crocidolite gives highly satisfactory performance" in Kaylo but that "prices had been too high to permit its use." (PL Exh p.16). Then Judge Baker observed Mr. Helser when he was shown a

later OC memorandum which said "there have been rare occasions when crocidolite (blue) asbestos has been employed in the Kaylo batch." (R547). Mr. Taylor explained this had been done when crocidolite could be purchased at a good price. (R547).

These are but some of the examples of the discrepancies between Mr. Helser's sworn testimony and OC's own internal documents. After they heard Mr. Helser consistently contradict OC's own documents, most of which were written by his boss, and observed his demeanor, six jurors and a distinguished Judge all decided he was not telling the truth. The record provides every reason to believe that these seven people were right and the district court could have so found. Mr. Helser's unbelievable testimony was properly rejected by the jury in evaluating OC's misconduct. Judge Baker properly rejected that testimony and determined by clear and convincing evidence that the jury's punitive award was not excessive and the district court agreed. Based on this record OC cannot demonstrate that no person would agree with Judge Baker and the district court.

Judge Baker and the jury also observed OC witness Dr.

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